
Please note:  Certain or all items on this agenda may be recorded 
 

Agenda compiled by: 
Guy Close 
Scrutiny Unit 
Civic Hall 
LEEDS LS1 1UR 
Tel: 39 50878 
 

 
 
 

Principal Scrutiny Adviser: 
Angela Brogden 
Tel: 24 74553 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 
A 

 

 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (SAFER AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES) 
 

 
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1UR on 

Monday, 30th June, 2014 at 10.00 am 
 

(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 9.30 a.m.) 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Councillors 

 
               B Anderson (Chair) - Adel and Wharfedale; 

J Bentley - Weetwood; 

A Blackburn - Farnley and Wortley; 

J Dunn - Ardsley and Robin Hood; 

R Grahame - Burmantofts and Richmond 
Hill; 

M Harland - Kippax and Methley; 

P Harrand - Alwoodley; 

J Jarosz - Pudsey; 

K Ritchie - Bramley and Stanningley; 

M Robinson - Harewood; 

B Urry - Roundhay; 

N Walshaw - Headingley; 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

B 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25* of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded). 
  
(* In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, notice of 
an appeal must be received in writing by the Chief 
Democratic Services Officer at least 24 hours 
before the meeting). 
 

 

2   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
1   To highlight reports or appendices which 

officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information, for the reasons outlined in the 
report. 

  
2   To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

  
3   If so, to formally pass the following resolution:- 
  

RESOLVED – That the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting during consideration 
of the following parts of the agenda designated 
as containing exempt information on the 
grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of 
the business to be transacted or the nature of 
the proceedings, that if members of the press 
and public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information, as 
follows: 

            
No exempt items have been identified. 
 

 



Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

 
C 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration. 
  
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes.) 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS 
 
To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 

 

5   
 

  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND 
NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES 
 
To receive any apologies for absence and 
notification of substitutes. 
 

 

6   
 

  MINUTES - 9 JUNE 2014 
 
To confirm as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting held on 9 June 2014. 
 

1 - 4 

7   
 

  SCRUTINY BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
To receive a report from the Head of Scrutiny and 
Member Development presenting the Board’s 
terms of reference. 
 

5 - 10 

8   
 

  CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY 
 
To receive a report of the Head of Scrutiny and 
Member Development on the Crime and Disorder 
Scrutiny role. 
 

11 - 
26 

9   
 

  CO-OPTED MEMBERS 
 
To receive a report of the Head of Scrutiny and 
Member Development on the appointment of co-
opted members to Scrutiny Boards. 
 

27 - 
32 



Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

 
D 

10   
 

  SOURCES OF WORK FOR THE SCRUTINY 
BOARD 
 
To receive a report of the Head of Scrutiny and 
Member Development on potential sources of work 
for the Scrutiny Board. 
 

33 - 
40 

11   
 

  WORK SCHEDULE 
 
To consider the Board’s work schedule for the 
forthcoming municipal year. 
 

41 - 
46 

12   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Monday 28th July 2014 at 10.00 am in the Civic 
Hall, Leeds (Pre-meeting for Board Members at 
9.30 am) 
 

 



Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

 
E 

   THIRD PARTY RECORDING 
 
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable 
those not present to see or hear the proceedings 
either as they take place (or later) and to enable 
the reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the 
recording protocol is available from the contacts 
named on the front of this agenda. 
  
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of 
practice 
  

a)            Any published recording should be 
accompanied by a statement of when 
and where the recording was made, the 
context of the discussion that took place, 
and a clear identification of the main 
speakers and their role or title. 

  

b)            Those making recordings must not edit 
the recording in a way that could lead to 
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of 
the proceedings or comments made by 
attendees.  In particular there should be 
no internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and 
end at any point but the material 
between those points must be complete. 

 

 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Monday, 30th June, 2014 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (SAFER AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES) 
 

MONDAY, 9TH JUNE, 2014 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor B Anderson in the Chair 

 Councillors J Bentley, A Blackburn, 
D Coupar, P Davey, R Grahame, 
M Harland, P Harrand, G Hyde, J Jarosz 
and N Walshaw 

 
 
 

93 Late Items  
 

In accordance with his powers under Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the Chair agreed to accept the following 
supplementary information: 
  

•         Inquiry into Tackling Domestic Violence and Abuse – Draft Scrutiny 
Report (Minute no. 97 refers) 

•         Appendix 1 – Work Schedule (Minute no. 98 refers) 

  
The above documents were not available at the time of agenda despatch, but 
were subsequently made available on the Council’s website. 
  
  

94 Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  
 

There were no disclosable pecuniary interests declared to the meeting.  
  
  

95 Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitutes  
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor M Robinson. 
  
  

96 Minutes - 10 March 2014  
 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 10th March 2014 be 
confirmed as a correct record. 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Monday, 30th June, 2014 

 

97 Inquiry into Tackling Domestic Violence and Abuse - Draft Scrutiny 
Report  

 
The report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development presented the 
Board’s draft report following its inquiry into tackling domestic violence and 
abuse. 
             
The following were in attendance for this item: 
  
Councillor Peter Gruen, Executive Member for Neighbourhoods, Planning and 
Support Services 
Neil Evans, Director of Environment and Housing 
Bridget Emery, Chief Officer Strategy and Commissioning, Office of the 
Director of Public Health 
  
In consideration of the draft report, the following points were made: 
  

•           In acknowledging that the majority of the Board’s recommendations have 
been directed to the Chair of the new Leeds Domestic Violence Strategy 
Group to lead on implementation, it was recognised that the Chair would 
also need to engage relevant Directors in this regard.  The Board agreed 
to reflect this point within its final report. 

•           Clarification was sought regarding input from the Trade Unions to the 
inquiry.  It was acknowledged that the Trade Unions had been 
approached and that a representative did actively contribute to the inquiry. 

•           The Director of Environment and Housing highlighted that an update on 
the work undertaken by Safer Leeds in tackling domestic violence is 
expected to be reported to the Executive Board in September/October 
2014. 

•           Members emphasised the need for the Board’s Inquiry Report to be 
brought to the attention of the Executive Board too. 

•           The Chair reflected on the complexity and cross-cutting nature of the 
inquiry and acknowledged the commitment of Board Members and of the 
wide range of witnesses to this inquiry.  Board Members requested that 
the Chair writes on behalf of the Board to the individual witnesses to 
express the Board’s gratitude for their contribution to this inquiry. 

RESOLVED –  
(a) That the Board’s draft inquiry report be agreed subject to the amendment 
discussed during the meeting. 
(b) That a request is made for the Scrutiny Board’s final report to be 
scheduled at a future meeting of the Executive Board for consideration. 
(c)   That the Chair writes on behalf of the Board to the individual witnesses of 
the inquiry to express the Board’s gratitude for their contribution. 
  
(Councillor A Blackburn arrived at 5.10 pm during consideration of this item) 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Monday, 30th June, 2014 

 

  
  
  

98 Work Schedule  
 

As this was the final meeting of the 2013/14 municipal year, the report of the 
Head of Scrutiny and Member Development provided an overview of the work 
undertaken by the Board this year.  Recent Executive Board minutes were 
also appended to the report for the Board to note. 
  
The following were in attendance for this item: 
  
Councillor Peter Gruen, Executive Member for Neighbourhoods, Planning and 
Support Services 
Neil Evans, Director of Environment and Housing 
Bridget Emery, Chief Officer Strategy and Commissioning, Office of the 
Director of Public Health 
  
The Executive Member for Neighbourhoods, Planning and Support Services 
acknowledged and welcomed the work undertaken by the Scrutiny Board 
during the year and made particular reference to the contribution made by the 
Scrutiny Board in reviewing the role and allocation of Police Community 
Support Officers. 
  
The Chair also reflected on the volume and quality of the work undertaken by 
the Scrutiny Board and also acknowledged and welcomed the support of the 
Executive Board Members and Directors throughout the year.  The Chair 
thanked everyone who contributed to the work of the Board, including the 
Members of the Board for their commitment and contribution over the 2013/14 
municipal year. 
  
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
  
 (The meeting concluded at 5.25 pm). 
  
  
 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report of Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 

Report to Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny Board 

Date: 30 June 2014 

Subject: Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues 

1. This report presents the terms of reference for the Safer and Stronger Communities 
Scrutiny Board for Members’ information. 

 

 
Recommendation 
 

2. Members are requested to note the Scrutiny Board’s terms of reference. 

 Report author:  Angela Brogden 

Tel:  247 4553 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



 

 

1.0    Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report presents the terms of reference for the Safer and Stronger Communities 
Scrutiny Board. 

2.0 Background information 

Scrutiny Board’s terms of reference 
 
2.1 The Annual Review of the Constitution more often than not identifies areas for 

amendment in relation to the Scrutiny Boards’ terms of reference to ensure 
consistency in wording and provide procedural clarity. 

 
2.2 On this occasion there have been no changes to the remit of this Scrutiny Board.  

The terms of reference are attached for Members’ information (Appendix 1). 
 
2.3 The Board’s terms of reference relate to the functions delegated to the Director of 

Environment and Housing, with the exception of housing related functions.  In 
general terms, these cover the following areas: 

 

• Community safety and the reduction of crime and disorder (including the 
management of closed circuit TV); 

• Environmental and consumer protection, health and safety other than in relation to 
Council employees, public health protection (including the investigation and control 
of notifiable diseases); 

• Animal welfare; 
• Development and implementation of municipal waste policy; 

• Streetscene management and related enforcement functions, including parking 
enforcement, street and gully cleansing, refuse collection, grounds maintenance, 
waste management, public conveniences, graffiti removal, fly-tipping and dog 
warden services. 

• Environmental management and the formulation and implementation of 
environmental improvement programmes; 

• Parks and countryside (including golf courses and outdoor pitches in parks); 
• Cemeteries, crematoria, burial grounds and mortuaries; 

• Countryside management (including all matters relating to the provision and 
maintenance of footpaths and bridleways), and the provision and maintenance of 
landscaping schemes. 

 
2.4 The following function delegated to the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and 

Communities) also falls within the remit of this Scrutiny Board: 
 

• The management and oversight of locality based working arrangements. 
 

2.5 In terms of Executive Members, the Scrutiny Board’s role encompasses the areas of 
responsibility assigned to the Executive Members for:  

• Neighbourhoods, Planning and Personnel in relation to locality working and area 
management. 

• Cleaner, Stronger and Safer Communities, with the exception of the area of 
responsibility for low carbon and climate change.  
 

Page 6



 

 

3.0 Corporate Considerations 

 Consultation and Engagement  

3.1 The Council’s Constitution was formally considered and approved by Council on 9 
June 2014.   

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration. 

3.2 In line with the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules, the Scrutiny Boards will continue to 
ensure through service review that equality and diversity/cohesion and integration 
issues are considered in decision making and policy formulation. 

 Council Policies and City Priorities 

3.3 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards continue to promote a strategic and 
outward looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the City Priorities.  Scrutiny Boards 
will continue to review outcomes, targets and priorities within the Business Plan and 
specific “Best City for…. ” priorities set out within the City Priority Plan. 

 

 Resources and Value for Money  

3.4 This report has no specific resource and value for money implications. 

 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

3.5 This report has no specific legal implications. 
 
 Risk Management 

3.6 This report has no risk management implications. 

4.0  Recommendation 

4.1 Members are requested to note the Scrutiny Board’s terms of reference. 
 

5.0 Background documents1 

5.1 None 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include 
published works.  

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Council Committees’ Terms of Reference    

 

 

Part 3 Section 2B 
Page 1 of 2 

Issue 1 – 2014/15 
 
 

Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) 
 
The Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) is authorised to discharge the 
following overview and scrutiny functions1: 
 
1. to review or scrutinise decisions made or other action taken in connection with 
any council or executive function of any matter which affects the authority’s 
area or the inhabitants of that area;2 

 
2. to review of scrutinise the performance of the Safer and Stronger 
Communities Board3; 

 
3. to carry out such other reviews or policy development tasks as it may be 
requested to do by either the Executive Board or the Council; 

 
4. to act as the appropriate Scrutiny Board in relation to the Executive’s initial 
proposals for a relevant plan or strategy4 within the Budget and Policy 
Framework;5 

 
5. to review or scrutinise executive decisions that have been Called In; 

 
6. to exercise the functions of a crime and disorder committee6, including the 
following: 

 
a. to review or scrutinise the exercise of crime and disorder functions7 by 
responsible authorities;8 

b. to review or scrutinise any local crime or disorder matter raised by a 
Member;9 

 
 

                                            
1
 In relation to the functions delegated to the Director of Environment and Housing under the Officer 
Delegation Scheme (Council Functions) and the Officer Delegation Scheme (Executive Functions) at 
paragraphs 1 (a) to (e) and 2 (d) to (l) and the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities) 
under the Officer Delegation Scheme (Executive Functions) at paragraph (a) whether or not those 
functions are concurrently delegated to any other committee or officer. 
2
 Including matters pertaining to outside bodies and partnerships to which the authority has made 
appointments 
3
 The Scrutiny Board has a duty to do this each municipal year – Scrutiny Board Procedure Rule 10.3 
4
 Namely the Safer and Stronger Communities Plan 
5
 In accordance with Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules. 
6
 In accordance with Section 19 Police and Justice Act 2006 
7
 As defined by Section 6 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (formulating and implementing crime and 
disorder strategies). 
8
 These are the authorities responsible for crime and disorder strategies set out in Section 5 of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
9
 This is any matter concerning – 

a) crime and disorder (including in particular forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-
social behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment), or 

b) the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in that area. 
which affects all or part of the electoral area for which the Member is elected or any person who lives 
or works in that area. 

Page 9



Council Committees’ Terms of Reference    

 

 

Part 3 Section 2B 
Page 2 of 2 

Issue 1 – 2014/15 
 
 

7. to review outcomes, targets and priorities within the Council Business Plan 
and Best city… for communities priorities within the City Priority Plan;  

 
8. to receive requests for scrutiny and councillor calls for action and undertake 
any subsequent work; and 

 
9. to make such reports and recommendations as it considers appropriate and to 
receive and monitor formal responses to any reports or recommendations 
made by the Board.  

 
 

Page 10



Report of Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 

Report to Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny Board 

Date: 30th June 2014 

Subject: Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 In recent years, the role and responsibilities of overview and scrutiny have expanded 

significantly, with the function now responsible for investigating the delivery of 
services provided by a wide range of public, private and third-sector partners.    

 
1.2 Provisions in the Police and Justice Act 2006, namely Section 19, 20 and 21, further 

extend the remit of local authorities to scrutinise crime and disorder functions and as 
from April 2009, the Council has been required to designate a Scrutiny Board to act 
as the Council’s ‘Crime and Disorder Committee’.  The Safer and Stronger 
Communities Scrutiny Board has been assigned to fulfil this role. 

 
1.3 In its capacity as a ‘Crime and Disorder Committee’, the Safer and Stronger 

Communities Scrutiny Board has powers to review or scrutinise decisions made (or 
action taken), in connection with the discharge by the ‘responsible authorities’ of their 
crime and disorder functions.  These are the authorities responsible for crime and 
disorder strategies and include the Local Authority, the West Yorkshire Police Force, 
the West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service, the Leeds Clinical Commissioning 
Groups and the West Yorkshire Probation Trust. 

 
1.4 The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 also introduced Crime and Disorder Reduction 

Partnerships (now referred to as Community Safety Partnerships) to develop and 
implement such strategies.  In Leeds, Safer Leeds is the city’s Community Safety 
Partnership. 

 
1.5 Home Office guidance recommended that a protocol be developed jointly between 

the local Scrutiny function and the Community Safety Partnership to help provide 

 Report author:  Angela Brogden 

Tel:  2474553 

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



 

guidance and a common understanding of how crime and disorder scrutiny will 
operate in practice.  A protocol was therefore developed in Leeds and is attached for 
the information of the Scrutiny Board (Appendix 1). 

 
2.0 Introduction of Police and Crime Commissioners and Police and Crime Panels 
 
2.1 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 replaced police authorities 

with Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) and introduced Police and Crime 
Panels to scrutinise the decisions and actions of the PCCs and assist them in 
carrying out their functions. 

 
2.2 On 15th November 2012, Mark Burns-Williamson was elected as the first West 

Yorkshire Police and Crime Commissioner and will hold office for a period of 3.5 
years to May 2016. 

 
2.3 However, local Crime and Disorder Committees have no remit to directly scrutinise 

their PCCs as this role lies with the new Police and Crime Panels (PCPs).  In view of 
this, particular importance is placed upon forging strong links between Crime and 
Disorder Committees and their respective PCP members in order to relay to the PCC 
any issues that have been raised through local scrutiny and vice-versa. 

 
2.4 The West Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel also fully recognise the benefits of 

establishing and maintaining strong links with the five Local Crime and Disorder 
Scrutiny Committees.  As such, a ‘Principles for Engagement’ document was 
developed in liaison with the five Local Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committees.  
This is also attached for Members information (Appendix 2). 

 
3.0 Recommendations 
 
3.1 Members of the Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) are asked to 
 

(i) note the attached joint protocol between Scrutiny and the local Community 
Safety Partnership 

(ii) note the Principles for Engagement document in relation to the West Yorkshire 
Police and Crime Panel and the Local Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committees. 

 
4.0 Background documents1 
 
4.1 None. 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include 
published works.  

Page 12



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Crime and Disorder 
 

Protocol between Scrutiny and the 
Community Safety Partnership in Leeds 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

June 2013 
  

Appendix 1 

Page 13



 

2 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Local Government Act 2000 brought in new arrangements that clearly 

defined a scrutiny role for elected members in holding executives of councils 
to account, and in scrutinising the work of other agencies providing local 
services. The overview and scrutiny function of a local authority has the power 
to summon members of the executive and officers of the authority to answer 
questions, and can invite other persons to attend meetings to give their views 
or submit evidence. 

 
1.2 There are four fundamental roles that define good scrutiny and underpin 

scrutiny activity: 
 

1. provides ‘critical friend’ challenge to executive policy-makers and decision-
makers; 

2. enables the voice and concerns of the public and its communities to be 
heard; 

3. is carried out by ‘independent minded governors’ who lead and own the 
scrutiny process; and 

4. drives improvement in public services 
 
1.3 In recent years, the role and responsibilities of overview and scrutiny have 

expanded significantly, with the function now responsible for investigating the 
delivery of services provided by a wide range of public, private and third-sector 
partners.    

 
1.4 Provisions in the Police and Justice Act 2006, namely Section 19, 20 and 21, 

extend the remit of local authorities to scrutinise crime and disorder functions.  
As a result, the Council has been required to designate a Scrutiny Board to act 
as the Council’s ‘Crime and Disorder Committee’.   

 
1.5 The purpose of this protocol is to provide guidance and a common 

understanding on how scrutiny of crime and disorder will operate in Leeds.  
The publication of Regulations1 and good working practice has shaped this 
protocol, which may be revised by agreement between all the interested 
parties in order to continually improve the scrutiny process.  The aim is for all 
parties to help ensure that Scrutiny remains a positive and challenging 
process. 

 
2.0 SCRUTINY BOARDS (GENERAL) 
 
2.1 The overall role and function of scrutiny is to hold decision-makers to account 

and secure improvements in local practice for local people via a contribution to 
policy development and review.  As such, Scrutiny Boards do not have 
decision-making powers.   

 
2.2 Scrutiny Boards are composed of Elected Members selected to represent the 

political balance of Leeds City Council.  These Members will be the only 
members of the Board with voting rights and will be selected to serve for a 
period of 12 months.  The membership of the Board will seek to avoid conflicts 

                                            
1
 The Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009 (S.I.2009/942) and the Crime 

and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) (Amendment) Regulations 2010 (S.I. 2010/616). 

Page 14



 

3 

of interest and where potential for this exists interests of those Members will 
be declared and subject to the Council’s procedures on these matters2. 

 
2.3 Scrutiny Boards may also seek nominations from other representative groups 

to act as co-opted members of the Board.  These nominations may be for the 
duration of a municipal year and/or on an inquiry by inquiry basis, as set out in 
the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules, Leeds City Council Constitution.  
However, the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009 
and the 2010 amendment make specific provision for the co-option of 
additional members to serve on a ‘Crime and Disorder Committee’. 

 
3.0 SCRUTINY OF CRIME AND DISORDER IN LEEDS 
 
3.1 Scope 
 
3.1.1 In its capacity as a ‘Crime and Disorder Committee’, the designated Scrutiny 

Board has powers to review or scrutinise decisions made (or action taken), in 
connection with the discharge by the ‘responsible authorities’ of their crime 
and disorder functions.  These are the authorities responsible for crime and 
disorder strategies, as detailed in the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, Section 
53.  The Act also introduced Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships 
(CDRPs) to develop and implement such strategies.  However, since 1st 
March 2010 the Home Office use the term Community Safety Partnerships in 
replace of CDRPs.  In Leeds, Safer Leeds is the city’s Community Safety 
Partnership. 

 
3.1.2 Responsible authorities also have a duty to work in conjunction with ‘co-

operating’ bodies.  The Safer Leeds Executive comprises a number of 
responsible authorities* and co-operating bodies.  These include Leeds City 
Council*, West Yorkshire Police*, West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service*, 
Leeds Children’s Trust Board, Leeds Safeguarding Children’s Board, Youth 
Offending Service; Adult Social Care; Leeds Clinical Commissioning Groups*, 
Arms Length Management Organisations; HM Prison Service Leeds; and 
West Yorkshire Probation Trust*. 

 
3.1.3 The Scrutiny Board will scrutinise the work of the Community Safety 

Partnership and the partners who comprise it, only insofar as their activities 
relate to the partnership itself.  For the avoidance of doubt, the Scrutiny Board 
will not extend to the separate statutory functions of the partner bodies, nor 
will it entail scrutiny of individual cases.  

 
3.1.4 The Police and Justice Act 2006 also makes provision for elected members to 

refer local crime and disorder matters to the Council’s designated Crime and 
Disorder Committee.  Local crime and disorder matters should be considered 
to encompass crime and disorder matters that affect all or part of the ward for 
which the member is elected or any person who lives or works in that area 
including: 

 

                                            
2
 Leeds City Council Constitution - Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules Section 2 

3
 This was amended by the Policing and Crime Act 2009. Section 108 of the Act provides for every 

provider of probation services in a particular area, whose arrangements under section 3 of the 
Offender Management Act 2007 provide for it to be a responsible authority, to be added to the list of 
“responsible authorities” which comprise the Community Safety Partnership. It also extends the remit 
of CSPs to explicitly include the reduction of re-offending. 

Page 15



 

4 

• Antisocial behaviour; 

• Other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment; 

• The misuse of drugs, alcohol or other substances 
 
3.1.5 While the Police and Justice Act 2006 makes separate provision for the 

referral of local crime and disorder matters, in practice the principles and 
processes involved are essentially the same as for any Councillor Call for 
Action (CCfA) referral.   

 
3.2 Work items  
 
3.2.1 In its capacity as a ‘Crime and Disorder Committee’, the designated Scrutiny 

Board is responsible for considering any Member referred crime and disorder 
matter.  At the beginning of each municipal year, the Community Safety 
Partnership will be invited to make any referrals to the Scrutiny Board which 
will be considered as part of its overall work schedule. Such referrals are to be 
formally agreed and presented by a representative of the Safer Leeds 
Executive.  

 
3.2.2 Where the production of a specific report is requested and/or necessary for a 

particular Scrutiny Board meeting, then sufficient notice will be given for the 
preparation of that documentation. There will be a minimum of 7 working days 
notice. 

 
3.3 Information to be supplied to the Board 
 
3.3.1 Where the Scrutiny Board makes a request in writing for information, this 

request will be directed to the Chair of the Safer Leeds Executive for action.  
This information must be provided no later than the date indicated in the 
request, or as soon as reasonably possible, but not beyond 2 weeks of the 
date indicated without the agreement of the Scrutiny Board Chair.  

 
3.3.2 Where  information has been requested by the Scrutiny Board in connection 

with their inquiries, this shall be depersonalised information, unless the 
identification of an individual is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the 
Scrutiny Board to properly exercise its powers. 

 
3.3.3 However, requests made by the Scrutiny Board shall not include information 

that the disclosure of which would not be in the public interest or would be 
reasonably likely to prejudice legal proceedings or current or future operations 
of the responsible authorities, whether acting together or individually, or of the 
co-operating bodies. 

 
3.3.4 The Scrutiny Board will not publish confidential information in its reports or 

information which is exempt under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006. Where exempt information has been used in the 
preparation of a report by the Scrutiny Board the report, if published, will list 
the exempt information referred to in the preparation of the report but not 
reproduce it in the report.  However, Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 should not be used as a method to bypass the requirement to 
depersonalise information by placing reports which are not depersonalised 
onto a Scrutiny Board agenda as an item to be heard without the press or 
public present. 

Page 16



 

5 

 
3.4 Attending Scrutiny Board Meetings 
 
3.4.1 As the ‘Crime and Disorder Committee’ the designated Scrutiny Board is 

required to meet no less than once in every twelve month period to carry out 
this particular function. 

 
3.4.2 The Scrutiny Board may require the attendance of an officer of a responsible 

authority or of a co-operating body to answer questions.  Where reasonable 
notice of the intended date is given, the responsible authority or co-operating 
body will be obliged to attend4. 

 
3.4.3 The Scrutiny Support Unit will also try to give approximate times for items to 

be discussed.  However, as items sometimes overrun, there may be a short 
waiting time.   

 
3.4.4 Prior to a Scrutiny Board meeting, the Chair receives a briefing on items to 

appear on the forthcoming agenda from officers in the Scrutiny Support Unit.  
On occasion, officers from the responsible authorities or co-operating bodies 
may be requested to attend this briefing, or a separate session, to enable the 
Chair of the Scrutiny Board to be briefed ahead of the scrutiny meeting. 

 
3.5 Conduct of Scrutiny Board Inquiries 
 

The role of Terms of Reference  
 
3.5.1 The majority of Scrutiny Inquiries have agreed terms of reference.  These are 

used to inform departments of the Council and partners of the emphasis of a 
particular inquiry.    

 
3.5.2 Officers in the Scrutiny Support Unit will liaise with relevant officers of the 

Council and the responsible authorities and co-operating bodies during the 
preparation of Terms of Reference to ensure that the focus of the inquiry is 
relevant and the timing of it appropriate. 

 
Co-opted Members 

 
3.5.3 The Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009 and the 

2010 amendment make specific provision for the co-option of additional 
members to serve on a ‘Crime and Disorder Committee’.  The Scrutiny Board 
has agreed to consider the co-option of any additional members on an inquiry 
by inquiry basis. 

 
3.5.4 The Home Office guidance for the Scrutiny of Crime and Disorder Matters 

makes specific reference to the role of police authorities and emphasises the 
importance of ensuring that community safety scrutiny complements this role.  
It states that ‘all local authorities should presume that the police authority 
should play an active part at committee when community safety matters are 
being discussed – and particularly when the police are to be present’.  One 
option suggested in the guidance is ‘to consider co-opting a police authority 

                                            
4
 The responsible authority or co-operating body should ensure that officers attending Scrutiny Board 

meetings are in a position to answer the Scrutiny Board’s questions and are given appropriate support 
by their line managers. 

Page 17



 

6 

member onto the committee when policing matters are being considered, and 
it would be for the police authority to decide the most appropriate member to 
appoint – this can be an independent or councillor member. This would 
provide a more direct link between the police authority and overview and 
scrutiny committee and would be particularly relevant if the committee is 
considering matters directly relevant to policing’ 

 
Gathering evidence 

 
3.5.5 The evidence to be gathered will be detailed in the inquiry’s terms of 

reference.  This material may be considered at a scrutiny meeting which is 
open to the public or by a small working group of Board members deputed to 
undertake a specific evidence gathering task.  In the latter case, working 
group members will report back to a full meeting of the Scrutiny Board on their 
findings. 

 
3.5.6 The Scrutiny Support Unit will try to give guidance on what will be asked and 

sometimes possible question areas will be passed on to the responsible 
authorities or co-operating bodies to allow some time for preparation before 
the meeting.  However, members may follow a related line of discussion and 
ask other questions on the day. 

 
Preparation and publication of reports 

 
3.5.7 At the conclusion of an inquiry, where considered appropriate, the Scrutiny 

Board will produce a preliminary report.  This will be drafted by the Scrutiny 
Support Unit in conjunction with the Scrutiny Board Chair and agreed by the 
Board.  This report will provide a summary of the evidence submitted, along 
with the Scrutiny Board’s conclusions and recommendations.  The Scrutiny 
Board will consult the Community Safety Partnership Executive and other 
relevant responsible authorities or co-operating bodies prior to finalising its 
report.   Final reports will be published on the Council’s website and be widely 
available to all relevant stakeholders and members of the public. Copies will 
be sent to each of the responsible authorities and each of the co-operating 
persons and bodies. 

 
Response to reports 

  
3.5.8 Where the Scrutiny Board makes a report or recommendations to the Council 

or the Executive about the exercise of crime and disorder functions by 
responsible authorities, a copy will be provided to each of the responsible 
authorities and each of the co-operating persons and bodies.   

 
3.5.9 Where a relevant authority or co-operating persons or body has been notified, 

it must: 

• consider the report and recommendations; 

• respond in writing to the Scrutiny Board within 28 days of the date of the 
report or recommendations, indicating what (if any) action it proposes to 
take; and 

• have regard to the report or recommendations in exercising its functions. 
 
3.5.10 The implementation of any agreed scrutiny recommendations will be 

monitored by the Scrutiny Support Unit and progress recorded at regular 
intervals. 

Page 18



 

7 

 
3.6 Scrutiny Support Unit 
 
3.6.1 In summary, the work of the Scrutiny Support Unit entails: 
 

• Providing a research and intelligence function to Scrutiny Boards (each of 
which has been allocated a different area of specialism) 

• Managing programmes of inquiries for each of the Scrutiny Boards 

• Providing support and guidance to witnesses  

• Managing the presentation of witnesses, research and reports to Scrutiny 
Boards  and/or carrying out research and reports “in house” as appropriate 

• Assisting Scrutiny Boards to prepare reports of their inquiries and steering 
recommendations through the Council’s decision making arrangements  

• Monitoring and tracking the implementation of scrutiny recommendations 

• Leading the continuing development of the Overview and Scrutiny function 
 
3.6.2 Contact the Scrutiny Support Unit at scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



West Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel 

Principles for Engagement:  

Local Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committees 

 

Background to Local Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committees 

Provisions in the Police and Justice Act 2006 extended the remit of local authorities 

to scrutinise crime and disorder functions and as of April 2009 each Council has been 

required to designate a Scrutiny Board to act as their ‘Crime and Disorder 

Committee.’  

 

‘Crime and Disorder Committees’ have the powers to review or scrutinise decisions 

made (or action taken) by the local Community Safety Partnership (CSP) and the 

‘responsible authorities’ that comprise it, but only with regards to activities which 

relate to the Partnership itself. 

 

 Impact of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 

 Although the Act did not change the legal remit of local authority Crime and Disorder 

Scrutiny Committees, they will not have the power to directly scrutinise the Police 

and Crime Commissioner because he/ she will not be a ‘responsible authority’ on the 

CSP. 

 

Under previous arrangements the Scrutiny Committees could scrutinise the West 

Yorkshire Police Authority. However, the reforms signal a readjustment of 

responsibilities in relation to the scrutiny of policing in West Yorkshire. In this sense, 

the West Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel will carry out part of the role previously 

exercised by Local Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committees.  

 

 Rationale for Engagement 

The West Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel fully recognise the benefits of 

establishing and maintaining strong links with the five Local Crime and Disorder 

Scrutiny Committees. These Local Scrutiny Committees can play a critical role in 

helping the Panel: 

- To recognise the needs and concerns of local communities in relation to 

community safety and crime. 

- To better understand the link between the strategic direction set by the Police 

and Crime Commissioner and its impact on individual wards and 

neighbourhoods.  

Appendix 2 

Page 21



- To assess the impact of all Partners on crime and community safety related 

issues in each district. 

- To apply the skills and expertise necessary to effectively scrutinise the Police and 

Crime Commissioner. 

- To focus on issues which are common to all of the West Yorkshire districts. 

- To maximise its resources by contributing to scrutiny work initiated by the West 

Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel. 

Equally, the West Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel is eager to assist Local Crime and 

Disorder Scrutiny Committees by: 

- Holding the Commissioner to account if he/she 

• Has a detrimental impact on the safety or confidence of communities in 

West Yorkshire 

• Raises public concern due to their chosen approach 

• Acts in a way which would have previously prompted the Committee to 

‘call in the responsible authority.’ 

- Informing and supporting the Commissioner in such a way as to ensure his/ her 

approach and plans reflect the needs and interests of the diverse communities 

across West Yorkshire. 

- Promoting policing and community safety interventions which have proved 

successful in the past or are working well under the Commissioner.  

- Leading on scrutiny investigations on behalf of the five Scrutiny Committees 

where issues of sub-regional significance have been identified.  

Moving Forwards 

On the basis of the rationale outlined above, the West Yorkshire Police and Crime 

Panel will work in partnership with Local Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committees 

(CDCs) in the following ways: 

1. Panel Meetings 

1.1 CDC Chairs will, at the very least, be invited to meetings of the West 

Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel on an annual basis to engage in an open 

discussion about the impact of the Commissioner in each district and to 

review the relevance of the latest iteration of the ‘Principles for 

Engagement.’ 

1.2 Should serious concerns arise during the year, the Panel may ask one or more 

CDC Chairs to attend additional Panel meetings and provide their perspective 

on the issue under consideration.  

Page 22



1.3 CDC Chairs can request an item to be put on the agenda of a Panel meeting 

by contacting the Chair of the Panel directly and explaining the reason for the 

request.    

2. Influencing the Police and Crime Plan 

2.1 The Police and Crime Panel is in a fortunate position in terms of its ability to 

influence the development of the Police and Crime Plan and the CDCs are 

encouraged to inform the Panel’s approach when exercising this influence. 

2.2 The Police and Crime Panel will encourage the Commissioner to have regard 

to the business cases and strategic assessments submitted by the individual 

authorities when developing his/ her Police and Crime Plan and subsequent 

commissioning arrangements. 

2.3 CDCs will be sent a copy of all the draft iterations of the Police and Crime Plan 

that are submitted to the Panel and will be asked to return any comments or 

suggestions in advance of the Panel meeting during which the draft will be 

discussed. 

2.4 CDCs are also asked to brief their authority’s Panel Members in advance of 

any discussions on the Plan so the local perspective is sufficiently understood 

and so the Panel is made aware if the Plan does not have regard to the 

evidenced needs of communities across West Yorkshire. 

3. Regular Exchange of Information and Intelligence 

3.1 The five CDCs will each complete a quarterly briefing note for use by all Panel 

Members to support them in assessing the impact of the Commissioner 

across West Yorkshire. 

3.2 The lead scrutiny officers will be notified of the deadlines for these briefing 

notes as far in advance as is practicable. These deadlines will be aligned with 

Panel Meeting dates as responses will be required two weeks before each 

Panel meeting. 

3.3 All completed briefings notes are to be formally approved by the CDC Chair 

before submission. 

3.4 Unless a request is made to the contrary, all submissions will be circulated to 

the other CDCs in West Yorkshire to allow comparisons and further linkages 

to be made. 

3.5 The completion of the briefing notes will not be an onerous task and will only 

call upon information and examples that the CDCs are already aware of or 

hold. 

Page 23



3.6 CDCs will be encouraged to play an active role in developing and adapting the 

themes covered within the briefing note.  

3.7 Questions in the briefing note will, at the very least, relate to:  

• The findings of any relevant investigations carried out at the local level 

• Plans for any future investigations at the local level which may be of 

interest or relevance to the Panel and/ or other CDCs in West Yorkshire. 

• Any concerns the CDCs want the Panel to be aware of, to either raise 

directly with the Police and Crime Commissioner or to investigate further. 

• Any suggestions about the way in which the Panel could better support or 

influence the approach of the Police and Crime Commissioner.  

3.8 Panel Members will have sight of all of the completed briefing notes as well 

as a covering note highlighting any common issues or trends. 

3.9 CDCs may also choose to arrange regular verbal briefings with the Panel 

Members representing their authority on the West Yorkshire Police and 

Crime Panel. 

4. Co-ordinating Work Programmes 

4.1  CDCs will submit the latest iteration of their work programmes along with 

 their quarterly briefing notes.  

4.2 These work programmes will then be circulated to the five CDC lead officers 

to help identify linkages across the five CDC work programmes and will also 

be used by the AWYA to identify linkages between the work of the CDCs and 

the Panel. 

4.3 In cases where the CDCs are due to carry out investigations that are likely to 

be of interest to the Panel, the Panel may request a short briefing note 

summarising the results of these investigations. 

4.4 Where one or more of the CDCs are due to investigate the same issue the 

Panel may decide to carry out the investigation at a sub-regional level on 

behalf of all five CDCs or in conjunction with them. 

4.5 If the Panel identifies an issue for concern which relates to only one of the 

West Yorkshire districts, the relevant CDC may be asked to lead on the 

resultant investigation with support from a Panel Member from that 

authority.  

Page 24



4.6 CDCs will be notified of such a request from the Panel at the earliest possible 

opportunity and the Panel recognises that the CDC response to these 

requests will be dependent on the availability of resources at that time. 

4.7 Equally, the Panel’s ability to lead on investigations on behalf of the CDCs will 

be resource and work load dependent. 

5. Aligning Membership 

5.1 Where possible, at least one Panel Member will sit on each CDC to ensure the 

Panel has a detailed understanding of local issues as well as the skills 

necessary to effectively scrutinise the Commissioner. 

5.2 Where membership is not aligned in this way a Panel Member from each 

authority will be designated as the lead Panel Member for their authority’s 

CDC and as such will contribute to CDC meetings and investigations as and 

when required and subject to existing workload pressures. 

Endorsement 

These principles have been endorsed by: 

……………………………………………….. 

Cllr Peter Box (on behalf of the West Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel) 

………………………………………………... 

Cllr Rizwan Malik (on behalf of Bradford CDC) 

……………………………………………….. 

Cllr Helen Rivron (on behalf of Calderdale CDC) 

……………………………………………. 

Cllr Kenneth Sims (on behalf of Kirklees CDC) 

 

Cllr Barry Anderson (on behalf of Leeds CDC) 

………………………………………… 

Cllr Laurie Harrison (on behalf of Wakefield CDC) 

 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 

Report to Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny Board 

Date: 30th June 2014 

Subject: Co-opted Members 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues 

1. For a number of years the Council’s Constitution has made provision for the 
appointment of co-opted members to individual Scrutiny Boards.  However, the 
appointment of co-opted members has not been considered consistently across all 
Scrutiny Boards. 

2.  This report provides guidance to the Scrutiny Board when seeking to appoint co-opted 
members. There are also some legislative arrangements in place for the appointment 
of specific co-opted members. Such cases are set out in Article 6 of the Council’s 
Constitution and are also summarised within this report.   

 
Recommendation 
 
3. In line with the options available outlined in this report, Members are asked to consider 

the appointment of co-opted members to the Scrutiny Board. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 Report author:  Angela Brogden 

Tel:  2474553 

Page 27

Agenda Item 9



 

1 Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek the Scrutiny Board’s formal consideration for the 

appointment of co-opted members to the Board. 
 
2 Background information 
 
2.1 For a number of years the Council’s Constitution has made provision for the 

appointment of co-opted members to individual Scrutiny Boards.  For those Scrutiny 
Boards where co-opted members have previously been appointed, such 
arrangements have tended to be reviewed on an annual basis, usually at the 
beginning of a new municipal year.  However, the appointment of co-opted members 
has not been considered consistently across all Scrutiny Boards. 

 
3 Main issues 
 
 General arrangements for appointing co-opted members 
 
3.1 It is widely recognised that in some circumstances, co-opted members can 

significantly aid the work of Scrutiny Boards.  This is currently reflected in Article 6 
(Scrutiny Boards) of the Council’s Constitution, which outlines the options available to 
Scrutiny Boards in relation to appointing co-opted members.   

 
3.2 In general terms, Scrutiny Boards can appoint: 
 

•  Up to five non-voting co-opted members for a term of office that does not go 
beyond the next Annual Meeting of Council ; and/or, 

 

•  Up to two non-voting co-opted members for a term of office that relates to the 
duration of a particular and specific scrutiny inquiry. 

  
3.3 In the majority of cases the appointment of co-opted members is optional and is 

determined by the relevant Scrutiny Board.  However, Article 6 makes it clear that co-
option would normally only be appropriate where the co-opted member has some 
specialist skill or knowledge, which would be of assistance to the Scrutiny Board.  
Particular issues to consider when seeking to appoint a co-opted member are set out 
later in the report. 

 
3.4 There are also some legislative arrangements in place for the appointment of specific 

co-opted members. Such cases are also set out in Article 6 (Scrutiny Boards) of the 
Council’s Constitution and are summarised below. 

 
 Arrangements for appointing specific co-opted members 
 
 Education Representatives 

 
3.5 In addition to elected Members appointed by Council, the Local Government Act 

2000 states that the relevant Scrutiny Board dealing with education matters shall 
include in its membership the following voting representatives in accordance with 
statutory requirements: 

 

Page 28



 

• One Church of England diocese representative1  

• One Roman Catholic diocese representative1 

• Three parent governor representatives2  
 
3.6 The number and term of office of education representatives is fixed by full Council 

and set out in Article 6.  Representatives of the Church of England and Roman 
Catholic dioceses are nominated by their diocese and parent governor 
representatives are elected.  Such representatives are then notified to the Scrutiny 
Board and their appointment confirmed. 

 
3.7 Where the Scrutiny Board deals with other non-educational matters the co-opted 

members may participate in any discussion but shall not be entitled to vote on those 
matters. 

 
 Crime and Disorder Committee  

 
3.8 In accordance with the requirements of the Police and Justice Act 2006, the Council 

has designated the Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) to act as the 
Council’s crime and disorder committee.   

 
3.9 In its capacity as a crime and disorder committee, the Scrutiny Board  (Safer and 

Stronger Communities) may co-opt additional members to serve on the Board, 
providing they are not an Executive Member. 

 
3.10 The Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) may limit the co-opted 

member’s participation to those matters where the Scrutiny Board is acting as the 
Council’s crime and disorder committee. 

 
3.11 Unless the Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) decides otherwise, any 

co-opted member shall not be entitled to vote and the Board may withdraw the co-
opted membership at any time.  

 
Issues to consider when seeking to appoint co-opted members 

 
3.12 Currently, there is no overarching national guidance or criteria that should be 

considered when seeking to appoint co-opted members.  As a result, there is a 
plethora of methods employed within Councils for the appointment of co-optees to 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees (Scrutiny Boards).  For example, some Council’s 
use “job descriptions”, some carry out formal interviews and some advertise for co-
optees in the local press, with individuals completing a simple application form which 
is then considered by Members.   

 
3.13 The Constitution makes it clear that ‘co-option would normally only be appropriate 

where the co-opted member has some specialist skill or knowledge, which would be 
of assistance to the Scrutiny Board’. In considering the appointment of co-opted 
members, Scrutiny Boards should be satisfied that a co-opted member can use their 
specialist skill or knowledge to add value to the work of the Scrutiny Board.  However, 

                                            
1
  Article 6 states this appointment shall be for a term of office that does not go beyond the next Annual 
Meeting of Council 

2
  Article 6 states these appointments shall be for a four-year term of office 

Page 29



 

co-opted members should not be seen as a replacement to professional advice from 
officers.  

 
3.14 Co-opted members should be considered as representatives of wider groups of 

people.  However, when seeking external input into the Scrutiny Board’s work, 
consideration should always be given to other alternative approaches, such as the 
role of expert witnesses or use of external research studies, to help achieve a 
balanced evidence base.  

 
3.15 When considering the appointment of a standing co-opted member for a term of 

office, Scrutiny Boards should be mindful of any potential conflicts of interest that may 
arise during the course of the year in view of the Scrutiny Boards’ wide ranging terms 
of reference.  To help overcome this, Scrutiny Boards may wish to focus on the 
provision available to appoint up to two non-voting co-opted members for a term of 
office that relates to the duration of a particular and specific scrutiny inquiry.  

 
3.16 Despite the lack of any national guidance, what is clear is that any process for 

appointing co-opted members should be open, effective and carried out in a manner 
which seeks to strengthen the work of Scrutiny Boards. 

 
4.0 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 During 2010/11, the guidance surrounding co-opted members was discussed by the 
Scrutiny Chairs and it was agreed that individual Scrutiny Boards would consider the 
appointment of co-optees on an individual basis. 

 
4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration. 

4.2.1 The process for appointing co-opted members should be open, effective and carried 
out in a manner which seeks to strengthen the work of the Scrutiny Board.  In doing 
so, due regard should also be given to any potential equality issues in line with the 
Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme.  

4.3 Council Policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 The Council’s Scrutiny arrangements are one of the key parts of the Council’s 
governance arrangements.  Within the Council’s Constitution, there is particular 
provision for the appointment of co-opted members to individual Scrutiny Boards, 
which this report seeks to summarise. 

4.4 Resources and Value for Money  

4.4.1 Where applicable, any incidental expenses paid to co-optees will be met within 
existing resources.  

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 Where additional members are co-opted onto a Scrutiny Board, such members 
 must comply with the provisions set out in the Member’s Code of Conduct as 
 detailed within the Council’s Constitution.  
 

Page 30



 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 As stated in paragraph 3.15 above, when Scrutiny Boards are considering the 
appointment of a standing co-opted member for a term of office, they should be 
mindful of any potential conflicts of interest that may arise during the course of the 
year in view of the Scrutiny Boards’ wide ranging terms of reference.   

5.0 Conclusions 

5.1 For a number of years the Council’s Constitution has made provision for the 
appointment of co-opted members to individual Scrutiny Boards.  However, the 
appointment of co-opted members has not been considered consistently across all 
Scrutiny Boards. This report therefore sets out the legislative arrangements in place 
for the appointment of specific co-opted members and also provides further guidance 
when seeking to appoint co-opted members. 

6.0 Recommendations 
 
6.1 In line with the options available outlined in this report, Members are asked to 

consider the appointment of co-opted members to the Scrutiny Board. 
 
7.0 Background documents3 
 
7.1 None. 

                                            
3
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include 
published works.  

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 

Report to Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny Board 

Date: 30th June 2014 

Subject: Sources of work for the Scrutiny Board 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues 

1. Scrutiny Boards are responsible for ensuring that items of scrutiny work come from a 
strategic approach as well as a need to challenge service performance and respond 
to issues of high public interest. 

 
2. This report provides information and guidance on potential sources of work and areas 

of priority within the Board’s terms of reference.  In consultation with the relevant 
Director and Executive Board Members, the Scrutiny Board is requested to consider 
and confirm the areas of Scrutiny for the forthcoming municipal year. 

 
Recommendation 
 
3. Members are requested to use the attached information and the discussion with 

those present at the meeting to confirm the areas of Scrutiny for the forthcoming 
municipal year. 

 
 

 

 Report author:  Angela Brogden 

Tel:  247 4553 

Page 33

Agenda Item 10



 

1.0 Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 To assist the Scrutiny Board in effectively managing its workload for the forthcoming 

municipal year, this report provides information and guidance on potential sources of 
work and areas of priority within the Board’s terms of reference.   

 
 
2.0 Background information 
 
2.1 Scrutiny Boards are responsible for ensuring that items of scrutiny work come from a 

strategic approach as well as a need to challenge service performance and respond 
to issues of high public interest. 

 
2.2 The alignment of the Scrutiny Boards to the City Priorities continues to promote a 

more strategic and outward looking scrutiny function that focuses on the “Best City 
for…” priorities, as set out within the City Priority Plan 2011 to 2015. This city-wide 
partnership plan summarises the key outcomes and priorities to be delivered by the 
Council and its partners.   

 
 
3.0  Main issues 
 
 Best Council Plan 
 
3.1 A refresh of the Best Council Plan was agreed at Executive Board in March 2014, to 

reflect the progress made over the past year and the significant changes to the 
context in which the council is working, and to fully align it with the approved 2014/15 
budget. The resulting ‘Best Council Plan – Plan on a Page’ is attached as Appendix 
1.  

 
 City Priority Plan and alignment with the Strategic Partnership Boards 
 
3.2 This Scrutiny Board is authorised to review or scrutinise the performance of the Safer 

Leeds Partnership and the Communities Board.  In doing so, the Scrutiny Board will 
review outcomes, targets and priorities within the “Best City….for Communities” 
priorities, as set out within the City Priority Plan.   These priorities are as follows: 

 

• Reduce crime levels and their impact across Leeds 

• Effectively tackle and reduce anti-social behaviour in our communities 

• Ensure that local neighbourhoods are clean 

• Increase a sense of belonging that builds cohesive and harmonious communities 
 

In determining items of scrutiny work this year, the Scrutiny Board is therefore 
encouraged to explore how it can add value to the work of the Partnerships in 
delivering on the city priorities. 
 

3.3 In line with the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules, the Scrutiny Board will also continue 
to act as ‘critical friend’ to the Safer Leeds Partnership and Communities Board 
through an annual assessment of how well these Partnerships are working in 
practice.   

  

Page 34



 

Other sources of Scrutiny work 
 
3.4 The Scrutiny Boards’ terms of reference are also determined by reference to 

Directors’ delegations. As such, Scrutiny Boards have always challenged service 
directorates across the full range of council activities and the Scrutiny Board may 
therefore undertake pieces of scrutiny work in line with its terms of reference, as 
considered appropriate.   

 
3.5 During the course of the last year, each Scrutiny Board has redefined the 

performance management information that it receives in line with its own 
requirements. The Board’s performance monitoring role can often lead to the 
identification of areas for more detailed scrutiny.  

 
3.6 Other common sources of work include pre-decision scrutiny, requests for scrutiny 

and other corporate referrals. The Board is also required to be formally consulted 
during the development of key policies which form part of the council’s budget and 
policy framework. 

 
3.7 Scrutiny Boards have always sought to work in partnership with one another where 

appropriate, in particular in cross-cutting areas which span more than one Scrutiny 
Board’s terms of reference. In setting the work programme for the coming year, the 
Board is encouraged to consider areas of work which may benefit from a partnership 
approach.  

 
 Areas of Scrutiny work brought forward from the previous year 
 
3.8 Last year, the Board worked in conjunction with the Environment and Housing 

Directorate to evaluate the phase one roll out of alternate weekly collections (AWC) of 
recyclable and residual waste to inform preparations for phase two.  Stemming from 
this work, the Board agreed to assist the directorate in determining appropriate waste 
collection options for areas of the city not expected to receive AWC.  It was expected 
that this piece of work would primarily take place during the 2014/15 municipal year. 

 
 
4.0 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 It is recognised that in order to enable Scrutiny to focus on strategic areas of priority, 
each Scrutiny Board needs to establish an early dialogue with relevant Directors and 
Executive Board Members holding the relevant portfolios. 

4.1.2 The Director of Environment and Housing, Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and 
Communities), Executive Member for Cleaner, Stronger and Safer Communities and 
the Executive Member for Neighbourhoods, Planning and Personnel have been 
invited to attend today’s meeting to discuss priority areas of work with the Scrutiny 
Board.   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration. 

4.2.1 The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules state that, where appropriate, all terms of 
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘ to review how and to 
what effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all 
equality areas, as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’.  

 
 
4.3 Council Policies and City Priorities 
 
4.3.1 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward 

looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the City Priorities.  This particular Scrutiny 
Board is authorised to review or scrutinise the performance of the Safer Leeds 
Partnership and the Communities Board.  In doing so, the Scrutiny Board will review 
outcomes, targets and priorities within the Business Plan and “Best City….for 
Communities” priorities, as set out within the City Priority Plan.   

 
 
4.4 Resources and Value for Money  

4.4.1 Over the last few years of Scrutiny Board work, experience has shown that the 
process is more effective and adds greater value if the Board seeks to minimise the 
number of substantial inquiries running at one time and focus its resources on one 
key issue at a time.    

 
4.4.2 Before deciding to undertake an inquiry, the Scrutiny Board is advised to consider the 

current workload of the Scrutiny Board and the available resources to carry out the 
work.    

 
 
4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 
 
4.5.1 This report has no specific legal implications. 
 
4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 There are no risk management implications relevant to this report. 
 
5.0 Conclusions 
 
5.1 Scrutiny Boards are responsible for ensuring that items of scrutiny work come from a 

strategic approach as well as a need to challenge service performance and respond 
to issues of high public interest.  This report provides information and guidance on 
potential sources of work and areas of priority within the Board’s terms of reference.  
In consultation with the relevant Directors and Executive Board Members, the 
Scrutiny Board is requested to consider and confirm the areas of Scrutiny for the 
forthcoming municipal year. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



 

6.0 Recommendations 
 
6.1 Members are requested to use the attached information and the discussion with 

those present at the meeting to confirm the areas of Scrutiny for the forthcoming 
municipal year. 

 

7.0 Background papers1 

7.1 None 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include 
published works.  

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Our ambition and approach 

Our Ambition is for Leeds to be the best city and Leeds City Council to be the best council in the UK: fair, 

open and welcoming with an economy that is both prosperous and sustainable so all our communities are 

successful.  

Our Approach is to adopt a new leadership style of civic enterprise, where the council becomes more 

enterprising, businesses and partners become more civic, and citizens become more actively engaged in the 

work of the city.

Our best council outcomes

• Improve the quality of life for our residents, particularly for those who are vulnerable or in poverty;

• Make it easier for people to do business with us; and

• Achieve the savings and efficiencies required to continue to deliver frontline services.

Our best council objectives and priorities for 2013 to 2017

Supporting communities and tackling poverty –

involving people in shaping their city and tackling 

the challenges of poverty, deprivation and 

inequality

With a focus on:

• Supporting healthy lifestyles and getting people 

active

• Tackling domestic violence and abuse

• Helping people out of financial hardship and into 

work 

• Strengthening local accountability and being 

more responsive to the needs of local 

communities

• Providing accessible and integrated services

Dealing effectively with the city’s waste –

minimising waste in a growing city.

With a focus on:

• Ensuring a safe, efficient and reliable waste 

collection service

• Providing a long-term solution for disposing of 

our waste

• Increasing recycling and reducing the use of 

landfill

Building a child-friendly city – improving 

outcomes for children and families.

With a focus on:

• Ensuring the best start in life

• Reducing the number of looked after children

• Improving school attendance

• Reducing NEETs

• Raising educational standards

• Ensuring sufficiency of school places

Delivery of the Better Lives programme – helping 

local people with care and support needs to enjoy 

better lives.  

With a focus on:

• Helping people to stay living at home

• Joining up health and social care services

• Providing choice by creating the right housing, 

care and support

• Promoting and supporting enterprise in the care 

market to increase capacity and choice

Promoting sustainable & inclusive economic 

growth– improving the economic wellbeing of local 

people and businesses 

With a focus on:

• Meeting the skills needs of business to support 

growth

• Boosting the local economy

• Maximising housing growth to meet the needs of 

the city in line with the Core Strategy

• Providing a good and efficient transport and 

digital infrastructure

• Developing a low carbon, resilient energy 

infrastructure for the city

• Playing our full role within the combined authority 

and city region to make the most of devolution 

opportunities 

• Maximising the impact of our cultural 

infrastructure

Becoming a more efficient and enterprising 

council – improving our organisational design, 

developing our people and working with partners to 

effect change.

With a focus on:

• Getting services right first time and improving 

customer satisfaction

• Improving how we’re organised and making the 

best use of our assets 

• Creating  flexibility and the right capacity and 

skills in our workforce

• Becoming more enterprising

• Generating income for the council

Our values: underpinning all that we do

Working as a 

team for Leeds

Being open, honest 

and trusted

Working with 

communities

Treating people 

fairly
Spending money 

wisely

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 

Report to Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny Board 

Date: 30th June 2014 

Subject: Work Schedule 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

 
1 Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the 

forthcoming municipal year. 
 

2 Main issues 
 
2.1 Further to the discussions already held during today’s meeting, Members are now 

requested to translate the decisions made around the chosen topics for Scrutiny into 
a work schedule for the forthcoming municipal year. 

 
2.2 A draft work schedule is attached.  Already included within the draft work schedule 

are the traditional items of Scrutiny work.  These involve performance monitoring, 
recommendation tracking and Budget and Policy Framework Plans.   

 

3. Recommendations 
 

3.1 Members are asked to prioritise the topics identified for Scrutiny and incorporate 
these into its work schedule for the forthcoming municipal year. 

 

4. Background papers1  
 

4.1 None used 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include 
published works.  

 Report author:  Angela Brogden 

Tel:  2474553 

Page 41

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) Work Schedule for 2014/2015 Municipal Year 
 

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) Meeting  WG – Working Group Meeting 

  Schedule of meetings/visits during 2014/15 

Area of review June July August 
 

Determining appropriate 
waste collection options for 
non-AWC areas. 
 

 Summary update report 
SB 28/07/14 @ 10 am 

 

To be determined 

 
   

To be determined 

 
   

To be determined 

 
   

Briefings 
 

   

Crime and Disorder 
Committee work. 

Crime and Disorder Scrutiny in Leeds 
SB 30/06/14 @ 10 am 
 

  

Budget & Policy Framework 
Plans 
  

   

Recommendation Tracking 
 
 

  
 
 
 

 

Performance Monitoring 
 

 Quarter 4 performance report 
SB 28/07/14 @ 10 am 
 

 

 
 
 
 

P
age 43



Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) Work Schedule for 2014/2015 Municipal Year 
 

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) Meeting  WG – Working Group Meeting 

 
 Schedule of meetings/visits during 2014/15 

Area of review September October November 
 

To be determined 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

To be determined 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

To be determined 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

To be determined 

 
 

   

Briefings 
 
 

   

Crime and Disorder 
Committee work. 
 

   

Budget & Policy Framework 
Plans 
 

   

Recommendation Tracking 
 
 

Inquiry into Tackling Domestic Violence – 
formal response 
15/09/14 @ 10 am 
 

Tackling Illegal Money Lending 
13/10/14 @ 10 am 

 

Performance Monitoring 
 
 

Quarter 1 performance report 
SB 15/09/14 @ 10 am 
 

  

 

P
age 44



Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) Work Schedule for 2014/2015 Municipal Year 
 

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) Meeting  WG – Working Group Meeting 

 
 Schedule of meetings/visits during 2014/15 

Area of review December January February 

To be determined 

 
 
 
 

  

To be determined 

 
 
 
 

  

To be determined 

 
 
 
 

  

To be determined 

 
 

   

Briefings 
 
 

   

Crime and Disorder 
Committee work. 
 

   

Budget & Policy Framework 
Plans 
 

   

Recommendation Tracking  
 
 

  

Performance Monitoring Quarter 2 performance report 
SB 08/12/14 @ 10 am 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 45



Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) Work Schedule for 2014/2015 Municipal Year 
 

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) Meeting  WG – Working Group Meeting 

 
 Schedule of meetings/visits during 2014/15 

Area of review March April May 

To be determined 

 
 
 
 

  

To be determined 

 
 
 
 

  

To be determined 

 
 
 
 

  

To be determined 

 
 

   

Briefings 
 
 

   

Crime and Disorder 
Committee work. 
 

   

Budget & Policy Framework 
Plans 
 

   

Recommendation Tracking  
 
 

  

Performance Monitoring 
 
 

Quarter 3 performance report 
SB 16/03/15 @ 10 am 
 

  

 

P
age 46


	Agenda
	6 Minutes - 9 June 2014
	7 Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference
	item 7 - appendix 1 SB Safer and Stronger Communities TOR

	8 Crime and Disorder Scrutiny
	item 8 - appendix 1 - Crime and disorder scrutiny protocol (June 2011)
	item 8 - appendix 2 - Principles for Engagement.PCP and Local Scrutiny

	9 Co-opted Members
	10 Sources of work for the Scrutiny Board
	item 10 - appendix 1 - BCP Plan on Page 2014-15

	11 Work Schedule
	item 12 - appendix 1 - work schedule for first meeting


